COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II

2017 APR 27 PM 1:56

STATE OF WASHINGTON

IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DEPUTY

NO. 94437-7

Court of Appeals No. 48423-4-II

(Thurston County Superior Court Cause No. 15-2-00527-5)

JOHN ROSKELLEY, FAYETTE KRAUSE, SPOKANE AUDUBON SOCIETY, SPOKANE MOUNTAINEERS, AND THE LANDS COUNCIL,

Petitioners,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE PARKS AND RECREATION COMMISSION, AND MT. SPOKANE 2000,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

David A. Bricklin, WSBA No. 7583
Jacob Brooks, WSBA No. 48720
BRICKLIN & NEWMAN, LLP
1424 Fourth Avenue, Suite 500
Seattle, WA 98101
(206) 264-8600
bricklin@bnd-law.com
brooks@bnd-law.com
Attorneys for Petitioners

I. IDENTITY OF THE PETITIONERS

John Roskelley, Fayette Krause, Spokane Audubon Society, Spokane Mountaineers, and The Lands Council (collectively, "Roskelley"), appellants below, hereby petition for review of the Court of Appeals decision identified in Part II.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Roskelley seeks review of the unpublished opinion by the Court of Appeals for Division I in the case of Roskelley, et al. v. Washington State Parks and Recreation Commission, et al., (March 28, 2017) (App. A hereto).

III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Is an agency's decision that departs from the agency's own established policy without a reasoned explanation and contrary to the agency's own findings arbitrary and capricious?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mt. Spokane State Park is the jewel of the Washington State Parks system. The park is the largest in the state and, thus, has been able to provide for the agency's twin missions: lands for recreation and lands for resource protection. A portion of east side of the mountain and park is dedicated to a ski resort run by a private concessionaire, while the western

slope of the mountain is an old-growth forest that provides important habitat for a wide variety of wildlife species.

This case arose out of the ski concessionaire's desire to expand the ski area into old growth forests on the west side of the mountain. The agency's biologist characterized those forests as the "highest . . . quality" in the entire state park system. CP 214. Thus, the proposal posed a conflict between the agency's goals of increasing recreation and protecting natural resources.

Fortunately, the Commission had a policy in place to guide them through resolution of this conflict. The policy distinguishes between the park system's highest quality natural resource lands and other lands. For most lands, the policy provides for a case-by-case determination with suggestions for finding the correct balance between these sometimes-competing goals. But a different direction is provided for the park systems' most valuable resource lands. On those high valued and rare resource lands, the agency policy directs the Commission to preserve the lands, and it does not provide for downhill skiing or other intense recreational development.

If the agency had considered its own policy, the Commission's choice would have been easy. It would have recognized that the balancing of recreational and resource protection interests should not occur on the park system's most valuable resource lands. Instead, agency staff and the

Commission all but ignored the adopted policy. On a divided vote, the Commission approved the proposal to allow this intense development on the park system's highest quality natural resource lands.

This Court has repeatedly held that "agency action is arbitrary and capricious if it is willful and unreasoning and taken without regard to the attending facts or circumstances." See e.g., Wash. Indep. Tele. Ass'n v. WUTC, 148 Wn.2d 887, 905, 64 P.3d 606 (2003); Pierce County Sherriff v. Civil Service Com'n of Pierce County, 98 Wn.2d 690, 695, 658 P.2d 648 (1983). The Commission's decision is precisely the type of agency action which falls under the arbitrary and capricious standard because the agency ignored the attending facts and circumstances of its own policies. Furthermore, the agency made its decision in an unreasoned manner by offering virtually no explanation for its decision that contravened its own policy.

A. Facts Giving Rise to the Dispute

In the Washington state parks system, Mt. Spokane stands alone. The park provides high-quality, uninterrupted habitat that is unmatched in the entire park system. AR 00206. The Commission's chief wildlife biologist concluded that the lands at issue in this case possessed "the highest level of natural resources quality in the state park system." CP 214. The Washington Department of Natural Resources concluded that "much of the

park was and still is a natural forest will be emphasized to define it as a valuable conservation asset of uncommon quality." CP 154. The Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife concluded that the lands in question provide significant habitat for wildlife and that ski area development would result in permanent impacts to wildlife habitat and habitat fragmentation that would be difficult, if not impossible, to mitigate. CP 156. Even the concessionaire's own consultant, Pacific Biodiversity Institute, concluded that "[t]here are significant areas of old-growth forest within the [proposed expansion area]" and that the forest covering the western and northwestern slopes of Mt. Spokane contains trees that show no signs of human logging and contain stands of old-growth timber that provide ideal habitat for several species of particular concern. CP 151.

In addition to the valuable natural resources provided on the western slopes of Mt. Spokane, the area contains valuable cultural resources for the Spokane Tribe. The Spokane Tribe has used the mountain for a wide variety of purposes, such as gathering traditional food and medicine, since time immemorial. *See* Spokane Tribe *Amicus Curiae* Br. at 4.

An existing privately-operated ski area, the Mount Spokane Ski and Snowboard Park, covers 1,425 acres of the park on the north, northeastern, and eastern faces of the mountain. AR 00208. MS 2000, a private concessionaire, operates the existing ski area.

The area of Mt. Spokane State Park at issue is an approximately 800-acre portion of the park that covers most of the western and northwestern sides of Mt. Spokane. AR 00208. In 1999, the Commission classified all lands within Mt. Spokane State Park for a variety of uses under its Land Classification System except for the 800-acre portion in question, which remained unclassified. AR 00207.

To allow expansion of the ski area into the old growth forests on the western and northwestern sides of Mt. Spokane, the area first had to be classified under the Commission's Land Classification System. The agency's Land Classification System, similar to a zoning ordinance, allows different uses in different classifications. Some classifications are quite protective of natural resources and allow only limited, low impact recreation (such as the "Natural Forest Area" classification, WAC 352-16-120(5)). The only classification that allows high-intensity recreational development, like downhill skiing, is the "Recreation" classification. WAC 352-16-020(1); AR 00207.

In 2010, to further its mission of protecting the natural resources in its charge, the Commission adopted an over-arching natural resource policy: Policy 73-04-1, *Protecting Washington State Parks' Natural Resources: A*

Comprehensive Natural Resource Management Policy. CP 265. Policy E.1, entitled "Land Classification," provides guidance for the Commission's land classification system and places the emphasis squarely on conservation, not recreation, when sensitive and significant natural resources are to be classified. The "Recreation" classification is not included as an option for such lands. Policy E.1 states:

Areas of a park containing natural resources of regional or statewide significance, unusual and/or sensitive habitats (e.g., bald eagles), or a species of concern should be classified restrictively to allow only low-intensity uses and minor facilities development. Typically, one of three natural area classifications should be applied to such areas (Natural Areas, Natural Forest Areas, or Natural Area Preserves), although the "Resource Recreation" classification also provides a relatively high degree of resource protection and may offer the best option to address conflicting use issues at a specific site.

CP 281. Similarly, Policy D.2 unequivocally protects areas where cultural and natural resources exist:

Where a resource of national, statewide, or regional significance occurs, its protection will take priority over other resource protection and use efforts. Where significant natural and cultural resources exist at a site or within a landscape, agency staff must protect the integrity of all significant resources.

The policy serves as the Commission's finding of the "key points needed to promote the long-term protection and conservation of the natural resources in the agency's care." CP 268. "With institutional commitment and budgetary support, this policy will ensure the long-term protection of State Parks' natural resources." *Id.*

CP 277.

In most of the park system, the agency leaves itself ample discretion to favor either recreation or preservation. But on lands "of regional or statewide significance, unusual and/or sensitive habitats," Policy E.1 instructs that only one of the "natural area" classifications is appropriate, which allow for only very low impact recreation. The policy identifies a fourth, compromise classification — Resource Recreation — to address conflicting uses. But that compromise classification does not allow intense recreational use either. WAC 352-16-020(2). In no event does the policy entertain the possibility of the "high-intensity" Recreation classification where high value natural resource lands are at risk. Likewise, Policy D.2 provides that where significant cultural resources exist, they "must" be protected.

The Commission was fully cognizant of the facts relating to the impacts to the natural resources on the west side of Mt. Spokane. The Commission's own findings recognized the high natural resource value of the west side of the mountain. AR 00623. The Commission's Final Environmental Impact Statement ("FEIS") acknowledges the inevitable destructive impacts a ski area would have on those unique resources, such as forest removal for construction of ski trails and chairlift terminals, clearing with grading, fragmentation of habitat, and the introduction of

exotic species. AR 00314. Not only would 79 acres of forest be clear-cut to make way for ski trails and chairlifts, but an even larger area would be impacted due to habitat fragmentation from the ski runs. AR 00274.

But instead of applying the agency's policy, a majority of the Commission viewed its choice as a dilemma created by the agency's twin goals to both protect natural resources and provide for recreation. Commissioner Brown's remarks at the November 20, 2014 hearing, reflected the thinking of several Commissioners who thought that the classification decision "does sort of capture the struggle of balancing our job as stewards of natural resources and finding a way to enhance recreational opportunities." AR 00767. Completely missing from the Commission's deliberations was any discussion of its policy which directly addressed a situation like this where the land has "regional or statewide significance, [and] unusual and/or sensitive habitats" – a policy that struck the balance in favor of protection, not recreation, on these valuable lands.²

The Commission even failed to address the applicability of its policy to its decision after it was raised in public comments. At the public hearing

The agency's failure to come to grips with its own policy was not limited to the deliberations. While the FEIS acknowledges the rare resources present on the unclassified lands, it fails to even mention, let alone discuss, the relevant policy. Similarly, the staff report (CP 191) prepared for the Commission's classification decision is also missing any discussion of the applicable policy.

on November 19, 2014, a commenter alerted the Commission about its staff's failure to address the agency's policy. AR 00691. The next day at the Commission meeting called to adopt a land classification, Commissioner Brown briefly inquired of staff member Lisa Lantz about the policy and its application to the Commission's decision, and Ms. Lantz acknowledged that the policy existed:

MS. LANTZ: So the second issue—so we do have Natural—our Natural Resource policy was quoted last night, and it was quoted accurately, the portion that was read aloud, that does discuss our typical procedure with areas of significant natural resources would be a protected classification of either a Natural Forest Area, Natural Area or Natural Area Preserve, or in some circumstances Resource Recreation.

COMMISSIONER BROWN: Thank you.

AR 00754-755.

One might have expected at that point for the Commission to evaluate the impact of that policy on the decision to be made at that meeting. But there was none. There was no further discussion between the commissioners and their staff or among the commissioners themselves of the policy. They did not discuss its meaning. They did not discuss why it would or would not apply in this case. There was no discussion of the policy at all.

Instead, the commissioners engaged in an *ad hoc* balancing of the various interests. For instance, Commissioner Schmitt said, "Making a

decision on the ... classification is important to both sides, and I can't paint either side as right or wrong. It's a difficult decision." AR 00757. Unfortunately, no commissioner discussed the applicable policy or whether the unambiguous direction provided by the policy would tip the scale in favor of classifying the land for resource protection given the policy's clear call for only low impact recreation on these lands.

B. <u>Proceedings Below</u>

The Commission approved the ski area expansion in Mt. Spokane State Park on November 20, 2014. Petitioners filed a Petition for Judicial Review on March 17, 2015 in Thurston County Superior Court. CP 4. The parties submitted briefs on the merits. CP 63; CP 403; CP 421; CP 424. The superior court ruled in favor of agency. CP 439. Petitioners filed a motion for reconsideration which was briefed by all parties. CP 442; CP 454; CP 461. The superior court considered oral argument, but denied the motion. CP 469.

Petitioners appealed the superior court's decision to the Court of Appeals, Division II. The Court of Appeals, in a 2-1 decision, ruled in favor of the Commission. *See* App. A. This petition for review followed.

V. ARGUMENT

A. The Decision Below is in Conflict with a Published Decision of the Court of Appeals and a Decision of this Court.

The Court of Appeals' decision in this case conflicts with previously published opinions of the Court of Appeals and this Court on arbitrary and capricious agency action and, therefore, review by this Court is warranted. RAP 13.4(b)(1); (2).

This Court has found that when an agency acts without regard to its own findings, its action has been taken without regarding to the attending facts and circumstances and is, therefore, arbitrary and capricious. In *Rios v. Washington Dept. of Labor and Industries*, 145 Wn.2d 483, 39 P.3d 961 (2002), this Court reviewed the Department of Labor and Industries' refusal to initiate rulemaking to mandate a blood-testing program for handlers of a certain pesticide. The department refused to engage in rulemaking even after it received a detailed report commissioned by the department which concluded that the test was both "necessary and doable." *Id.* at 506, 39 P.3d 961. The court concluded that the refusal to acknowledge such clear findings undertaken by the department itself was arbitrary and capricious. *Id.* at 507-8, 39 P.3d 961. The "attending facts or circumstances" in *Rios* were the department's own findings of the necessary steps to meet its statutory duty to set a standard that assures that no employee would suffer

material impairment of health. *Id.* at 496, 39 P.3d 961. Because the department ignored its own findings when making its decision to not pursue rulemaking, the Supreme Court found its action arbitrary and capricious.

Likewise, in *Probst v. State Dept. of Retirement Systems*, 167 Wn. App. 180, 191, 271 P.3d 966 (2012), the Court of Appeals found that the State Department of Retirement Systems acted arbitrarily and capriciously because it established a method to calculate interest for the Teachers Retirement System in complete disregard of its own findings. Teachers had raised concerns that calculating interest on a quarterly basis could have unfair results, and the agency acknowledged the shortcomings of a quarterly interest calculation method. *Id.* at 193. Despite the evidence and the agency's acknowledgment that the quarterly interest calculation method was unfair, the agency rejected moving to a more frequent interest calculation. *Id.* The Court of Appeals found that this decision was in complete disregard of the facts and circumstances and, therefore, arbitrary and capricious because the agency ignored its own findings of the shortcomings of a quarterly interest calculation method. *Id.* at 194.

Here, the Commission similarly ignored its own policy findings of the "key points needed to promote the long-term protection and conservation of the natural resources in the agency's care." CP 268. One of those "key points" was designating such lands to allow only low impact

recreation. The Commission's unreasoned decision goes even beyond the agency's arbitrary and capricious decision in *Rios* and *Probst* because the Commission's decision was inconsistent not only with the undisputed facts, but contrary to the direction provided in the formally adopted agency policy.

In the majority opinion, the Court of Appeals held that *Rios* and *Probst* are "not analogous to the Commission's decision here" because the petitioners "have not shown that the Commission ignored a potentially unfair result or that it disregarded the evidence before it." Op. at 18. But the majority overlooked the most important piece of evidence—the unambiguous policy direction which precludes high intensity recreation on these rare and most valuable natural resource lands. The majority misconstrued the policy, finding that it "does not preclude the Commission from adopting a mix of use classifications, <u>including a recreation classification</u>." Op. at 13-14 (emphasis supplied). That statement is flatly inconsistent with the plain language of the policy, which clearly guides the Commission to adopt classifications with low-intensity recreational impact on these lands, not the high-impact Recreation classification.³

Even if the majority viewed adopting a mix of Recreation and Natural Area classifications as a sort of compromise between the competing goals of recreation and conservation, the Commission's action would still be contrary to the policy. The policy clearly addresses compromises between conflicting uses and states that the "Resource Recreation" classification "offer[s] the best option to address conflicting use issues at a specific site." CP 281. The policy does not contemplate a compromise that allows a portion of high value natural resource lands to be classified as "Recreation."

The majority sidestepped this problem by emphasizing the use of the word "should" instead of "shall" in Policy E.2. But as the dissent points out, "If an agency may deviate from this sort of direction without expressing any reason, it has reduced the preference, the 'ought to,' inherent in the term 'should' to the choice among equally balanced options expressed by the term 'may.' To preserve the distinction between 'should' and 'may,' some reason or justification for deviating from the clear preference of section E.1. must be required of the Commission." Op. at 33. Furthermore, the Court does not account for the use of mandatory language in Policy D.2 ("Where significant natural and cultural resources exist . . . agency staff <u>must</u> protect the integrity of all significant resources."). CP 277 (emphasis supplied).

The Commission's decision was directly contrary to the outcomes in *Rios* and *Probst* and, therefore, review by this Court is warranted.

B. This Case Presents Issues of Substantial Public Interest that Should be Addressed by this Court Because It Involves the Management of Public Lands and the Effect of Policies on Agency Actions.

Review of this case also is warranted because it presents two issues of substantial public interest that should be resolved by this Court. First, this case deals with the management of public lands. The public's experience and the integrity of rare natural and cultural resources at Mt. Spokane State Park will be forever altered if the Court of Appeals decision

stands. Second, Washington courts have not offered the same level of detailed guidance on the effect of agency policies on agency decision-making as federal courts. A ruling on that issue will clarify the effect of agency policies for nearly every administrative agency in the state.

1. This case involves the management of a significant public resource.

Mt. Spokane State Park is a public resource of regional and statewide significance. Major alterations to the park, such as those proposed by the Commission and MS 2000 to clearcut ski runs and expand the ski area, will affect a significant portion of the park. The Commission's land classification decision will affect all Washington residents who use Mt. Spokane State Park or enjoy the wildlife that move through and beyond the park. Review of this case also will affect future Park Commission decisions where the agency's natural resource protection policies are implicated. The public is entitled to Commission decisions that are well-reasoned, respect established agency policy, and are not arbitrary and capricious. This matter involves issues of substantial public interest, warranting review by this Court.

2. This case could establish clear guideposts for administrative agency policies that have long been adopted by federal courts, but have not yet been considered by Washington courts.

Administrative agencies regularly adopt formal policies which provide direction and guidance for an agency's actions. Agency policies such as the one at issue here serve multiple purposes. They provide direction to agency staff. They provide the public with a clear expectation of future agency decisions, so they can conduct their affairs with reasonable assurance of future agency action. Perhaps most importantly, they serve as a check on arbitrary agency decision-making which might otherwise be unduly influenced by wayward staff or pressure from outside forces. Review of the role and import of formally adopted agency policy will provide much needed guidance to all state agencies, the public, and lower courts that address this issue in the future. See In re Flippo, 185 Wn.2d 1032, 380 P.3d 413 (2016) ("A decision that has the potential to affect a number of proceedings in the lower courts may warrant review as an issue of substantial public interest if review will avoid unnecessary litigation and confusion on a common issue.").

For example, Policies D.2 and E.1 reasonably led members of the public to expect that the pristine area of Mt. Spokane State Park would be classified for resource protection and low impact recreation and not be

subject to disruptive, high-intensity recreational uses. See supra at 6-7. Instead, the agency did the opposite of its policy direction and classified the land to allow high-intensity recreational use. The public should be able to rely on an agency's policies, or at the very least, be given a rational explanation for an agency's deviation from its own policy. Review of this issue would provide clarity on this common aspect of administrative law.

While Washington courts have repeatedly held that agencies may not disregard the agency's own recommendations, findings, and evidence, federal courts have addressed the issue in greater detail. The United States Supreme Court has outlined the general guideposts for agency decision-making: "An agency may not, for example, depart from a prior policy sub silentio or simply disregard rules that are still on the books." F.C.C. v. Fox Television Stations, Inc., 555 U.S. 502, 515 (2009). The Supreme Court held that agencies are free to change policy so long as it is permitted by statute, but it must explain the change in policy. Id. Similarly, the Ninth Circuit has articulated conditions which can warrant an agency's departure from its own established policy:

[A] policy change complies with the APA if the agency (1) displays "awareness that it is changing position," (2) shows that "the new policy is permissible under the statute," (3) "believes" the new policy is better, and (4) provides "good reasons" for the new policy, which, if the "new policy rests upon factual findings that contradict those which underlay its prior policy," must include "a reasoned explanation ... for

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