FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/26/2017
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 94437-7

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JOHN ROSKELLEY, FAYETTE KRAUSE, SPOKANE AUDUBON SOCIETY, SPOKANE MOUNTAINEERS, and THE LANDS COUNCIL,

Petitioners,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE PARKS AND RECREATION COMMISSION and MOUNT SPOKANE 2000,

Respondents.

WASHINGTON STATE PARKS AND RECREATION COMMISSION'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Michael M. Young Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 35562 Post Office Box 40100 Olympia, WA 98504-0100 (360) 664-2962 OID No. 91033

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

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Petitioners seek review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2), claiming that the court of appeals' decision is in conflict with decisions of this Court and the court of appeals, and under RAP 13.4(b)(4), claiming that this case involves an issue of substantial public interest that this Court should determine. Neither is an appropriate basis for review.

A. The Decision Below Is Not in Conflict With Any Decision of This Court or Any Published Decision of the Court of Appeals

Contrary to Petitioners' claim, the court of appeals' decision is not in conflict with any decision of this Court, or any published decision of the court of appeals. Petitioners incorrectly argue that the decision below conflicts with cases finding agency action arbitrary and capricious, claiming that because the Commission's decision classifying the PASEA was allegedly inconsistent with the Commission's natural resources policy, it was necessarily arbitrary and capricious. But Petitioners' argument is premised entirely on a misreading of the Commission's natural resources policy. Simply put, the Commission's natural resources policy does not say what Petitioners would lead this Court to believe it says, and the Commission's action did not deviate from or conflict with the natural resources policy.

As noted above, the natural resources policy, in general, guides State Parks in balancing its dual mission of promoting recreation and preserving its natural and cultural recourses. CP 267-284. The policy expressly acknowledges the need to balance these twin mandates. CP 277.

The part of the natural resources policy that applies to Commission land classification, Section E, provides guidance to the Commission on what classifications *should typically* apply to lands with high natural resource values; it does not dictate the Commission's classification decisions as Petitioners wish it did. In particular, Section E of the natural resources policy does not require a restrictive classification for the PASEA. Section E of the natural resources policy says, in relevant part:

Areas of a park containing natural resources of regional or statewide significance . . . **should** be classified restrictively to allow only low-intensity uses and minor facilities development. **Typically**, one of three natural area classifications should be applied to such areas. . . .

(Emphasis added.)

Contrary to Petitioners' argument, Section E does not *require* only low-intensity recreational uses in areas with significant natural resources, such as the PASEA. The words "*should*" and "*typically*" plainly mean that low-intensity uses are suggested, but not required, and thus higher intensity uses may be allowed based on countervailing considerations such as public demand for higher intensity recreational use or public safety considerations. The word "should" has been held to be "permissible and expresses a desire or request," *State v. Garrett*, 80 Wn. App. 651, 653, 910 P.2d 552 (1996), as opposed to the mandatory "shall." Petitioners would have this Court rewrite the Commission's policy so that it says areas with significant natural resources *shall* be classified restrictively and that one of

¹ In drafting the natural resources policy, the Commission used "will," "must," and "shall" when it intended to mandate a particular action.

the three natural resource classifications *must always* be applied to such areas. But that is simply not what Section E says, and there is no basis for this Court to second-guess the Commission's policy and rewrite it to suit Petitioners' wishes.

Nor does subsection 2 of Section D of the natural resources policy dictate any particular land classification for the PASEA, as Petitioners incorrectly claim. That subsection is plainly not applicable to the Commission's action at issue in this case. Petitioners point to one sentence in Section D 2, completely removed from its context, and argue that it mandates a particular land classification. The sentence in question says that "[w]here significant natural and cultural resources exist at a site or within a landscape, *agency staff* must protect the integrity of all significant resources." (Emphasis added.) It does not apply to land classification decisions by the Commission. Section E, discussed above, applies to such decisions.

The natural resources policy afforded the Commission discretion to classify the PASEA as it did, with a portion (less than 35 percent) classified to allow for some high-intensity use and development, with the remainder (over 65 percent) classified to permit no development and only low-intensity recreational uses. Because the Commission appropriately exercised its discretion after much study and consideration, the court of appeals' decision does not conflict with *Rios v. Washington Department of Labor and Industries*, 145 Wn.2d 483, 39 P.3d 961 (2002), or *Probst v. State Department of Retirement Systems*, 167 Wn. App. 180, 271 P.3d 966

(2012), as claimed by Petitioners. Applying the appropriate standard to determine whether agency action is arbitrary and capricious (i.e., whether the action was "willful and unreasoning and taken without regard to the attending facts or circumstances," *Washington Independent Telephone Ass'n v. WUTC*, 148 Wn.2d 887, 905, 64 P.3d 606 (2003)), the court of appeals correctly held that the Commission's land classification was neither.

In *Rios*, this Court held that the Department of Labor and Industries' decision not to enact rules requiring certain monitoring for pesticide exposure was arbitrary and capricious. *Rios*, 145 Wn.2d at 508. The agency's failure to enact rules was "unreasoning and taken without regard to the attending facts and circumstances," *id.*, and therefore arbitrary and capricious, because the agency's own experts had studied the matter and "deemed a monitoring program both necessary and doable." *Id.* The Department of Labor and Industries was under a mandatory statutory duty to set regulatory standards to protect workers, when to do so would be feasible and effective. *Id.* The agency's failure to enact rules, given its own evidence and its legal duty, was unlawful. *Id.*

In *Probst*, the Department of Retirement Systems' use of a quarterly interest calculation method that the agency itself recognized as unfair, and which did not have any advantage over a more fair alternative method, was determined to be arbitrary and capricious. *Probst*, 167 Wn. App. at 193-94. The court of appeals observed that the agency "consistently recognized the advantages that would be realized by moving

to a more frequent interest calculation, but rejected such a move without identifying any reasons for doing so. The decision to continue using the quarterly interest calculation method was therefore undertaken in willful and unreasoning disregard of the facts and circumstances, making it arbitrary and capricious." *Id.* Basically, the court held that the agency's action was arbitrary and capricious because there was no good reason for it.

Here, by contrast, the Commission's reasons for classifying the PASEA as it did are manifest from the record, *see*, *e.g.*, AR 00747-749. And while there is room for disagreement about the Commission's decision, it was not willful and unreasoning and taken without regard to the attending facts or circumstances. The Commission thoroughly considered and weighed the facts demonstrating the demand for recreational use of the PASEA, on one hand, and considered the facts demonstrating the natural and cultural resource values of that area on the other hand. *Id.* Given its dual mandate to promote recreation and preserve natural and cultural resources, this weighing was entirely appropriate.

Petitioners claim that the "facts and circumstances" the Commission failed to give regard to in deciding the land use classification for the PASEA was the Commission's natural resources policy. Petition at 12-13. But as discussed above, the Commission's natural resources policy did not dictate a restrictive land use classification for the PASEA. Instead, the natural resources policy merely suggests that a restrictive land use classification *should typically* be applied to lands with significant

natural resources, leaving the Commission free to choose a classification that allows for development and higher-intensity recreational use when countervailing considerations warrant it. Here, the countervailing consideration was the demand for developed ski facilities and the safety of the recreating public. The fact of that demand is well established by the record the Commission had before it.

The Commission's decision to classify the PASEA as it did was not willful and unreasoning and taken without consideration of the facts and circumstances. To the contrary, the Commission carefully considered the facts in the record and its decision is well supported by those facts. Furthermore, the Commission's decision did not deviate from its natural resources policy. The court of appeals correctly concluded based on these reasons that the Commission's decision was not arbitrary and capricious. That decision did not conflict with any decision of this Court or any published decision of the court of appeals. Therefore, review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2).

B. The Decision Below Does Not Involve an Issue of Substantial Public Interest That Should Be Decided by This Court

While management of Mount Spokane State Park is doubtless an issue of substantial public interest, discretion to manage the park is vested by law in the Commission. As discussed above, the Commission properly exercised its discretion in determining the proper land classification for the PASEA; its land classification was not arbitrary and capricious. The Commission's land classification decision was made following extensive

study and a lengthy public process, and reflects a careful balancing of the twin mandates of the Commission (promoting recreation and preserving natural resource and cultural resources). This Court should not second-guess the Commission's proper discretionary decision.

Furthermore, this case does not provide this Court an opportunity to establish "guideposts" regarding whether an agency's deviation from its agency policy necessarily represents arbitrary and capricious action, as Petitioners suggest. Again, the Commission action at issue in this case did not deviate from its natural resources policy. Therefore, this case does not present an opportunity for this Court to establish case law regarding an agency's deviation from its own policy.

The federal cases cited by Petitioners differ fundamentally from this case. Each involved a federal agency clearly deviating from a long-established policy upon which members of the regulated community had come to rely, or reversing course 180 degrees. FCC v. Fox Television Stations, Inc., 556 U.S. 502, 129 S. Ct. 1800 (2009), and CBS Corp. v. FCC, 663 F.3d 122 (3d Cir. 2011), both involved the FCC's change in policy on how it enforces fleeting indecent material broadcast on the airwaves. Critically, the holdings in Fox and CBS Corp. were premised on a finding that the agency had deviated from an established policy. As discussed above, the Commission's decision at issue in this case did not deviate from its natural resources policy because that policy did not mandate any particular land use classification for the PASEA. For that reason, this case is not analogous to Fox and CBS Corp.

In Organized Village of Kake v. United States Department of Agriculture, 795 F.3d 956 (9th Cir. 2015), the Ninth Circuit ruled that the U.S. Forest Service had acted arbitrarily and capriciously when it reversed a decision applying the so-called "roadless rule" to the Tsongas National Forest in Alaska. The Ninth Circuit held that the Forest Service's 180-degree reversal of the agency's position was arbitrary and capricious because the reasons for the agency's "dramatically changed finding," id. at 959, were not adequately explained. Id. at 967-70.

Here, by contrast, there has been no reversal of a Commission decision or policy. Considering all the facts in the record, including the facts demonstrating demand for increased recreation opportunities at Mount Spokane and public safety concerns, and the facts demonstrating the natural resource and cultural values of the PASEA, the Commission made a reasoned decision to balance the recreational demand and the resource values and classify the PASEA to allow for a modest expansion of the Mount Spokane Ski Area. And as explained throughout this brief, in so deciding, the Commission did not deviate from its natural resources policy. This case is, therefore, not analogous to *Kake*.

V. CONCLUSION

This Court should deny review of the court of appeals' decision.

That decision is not in conflict with any decision of this Court or any published decision of the court of appeals. And the court of appeals'

decision does not involve an issue of substantial public interest that should be decided by this Court.